No: 2007-WC-00817-COA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

OCT 2 4 2007

SAMUEL JAMES

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPOLIANT

v.

BOWATER NEWSPRINT

Appellee

On Appeal from the Grenada County Circuit Court

BRIEF OF APPELLANT, SAMUEL JAMES

Carlos E. Moore, MS Bar No.
MOORE LAW OFFICE, PLLC
P.O. Box 1402
Grenada, Mississippi 38902-1402
(662) 227-9940

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record stipulates that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the judges of the Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

A. Parties:

Appellant:

Samuel James

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The full commission and trial court erred in affirming the finding of the administrative judge that the claimant's claim was time barred pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-35 (1) when the statute of limitations period begins when "with reasonable care and diligence it is discoverable and apparent" that a compensable, disabling injury exists. *Pepsi Cola Bottling Co.* v. Long, 362 So. 2d 182, 185 (Miss. 1978). Can an employer reasonably deny benefits for an injury that is exacerbated throughout the course of employment and that does not become occupationally disabling until several years after the initial, non-disabling injury occurred?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a Workers Compensation Case on appeal from an Order of the Circuit Court of Grenada County affirming the Full Commission finding that Samuel James' claim was time barred pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated § 71-3-35. The full commission found that the claimant's injuries were tied to a previous workplace injury in 1994 and failed to access the proper date of injury. While the initial injury suffered by the claimant occurred on or about August 25, 1994, said injury did not manifest itself into an occupational disabling condition until January 2004. The Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission held that Mr. James' claim was untimely. The Circuit Court affirmed the finding of the Full Commission in the face of clear evidence that the claimant's injuries were exacerbated throughout the course of his employment and failed to manifest as a disabling compensable injury until January 2004, after which time the Petition to Controvert was filed on June 7, 2005.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. James served as an employee of Bowater Newsprint from 1992 until he suffered a disabling injury in January of 2004. Mr. James worked as a line technician for the duration of his employment at Bowater Newsprint, twelve years. While employed at Bowater Newsprint, Mr. James faithfully reported for duty and effectively executed his required tasks and responsibilities. Mr. James suffered a work related injury in 1994, but continued to serve and faithfully perform in spite of his medical condition.

On or about August 25, 1994, Mr. James suffered from a work related injury when he slipped and fell at work. While trying to retrieve oil from the basement, Mr. James inadvertently stepped into a puddle of oil and slipped and sustained an injury that caused initial soreness and pain. Mr. James reported the injury to a supervisor. He was referred to the company nurse, Wanda Pyron, who advised him to take some Advil and soak in hot water. She told him that if the pain continued to bother him she would refer him to a doctor. She referred him to Dr. Kevin Whalley. On or about June 10, 1996, Mr. James had an appointment with Dr. Whalley where he was told that he was developing a medical condition called avascular necrosis in addition to the injury he sustained from work.

Mr. James continued to seek treatment for the injury he sustained and continued to work diligently for Bowater Newsprint under the restrictions allocated by his physicians. Dr. Whalley referred Mr. James to Dr. Windham for further evaluation and diagnostic testing in October of 1996. After several referrals and appointments, Mr. James was told that his avascular necrosis had advanced thus causing his severe hip pain. Mr. James was not aware of the origin of his injury and visited several physicians under the possibility of a back injury. He was not informed

of the severity or progression of his medical condition until surgery was ordered and later conducted in January 2004. Mr. James continued to work throughout the ten years despite the pain he suffered from his initial injury.

Mr. James filed a Petition to Controvert on June 7, 2005 asserting that his condition was severely aggravated by performing his professional responsibilities. Bowater Newsprint responded to the Petition by filing a motion to dismiss pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-35(1) for untimely filing of the Petition to Controvert. Administrative Judge Virginia W. Mounger granted the motion. Mr. James appealed to the Full Commission and the Administrative decision was upheld by the Full Commission. Mr. James appealed to the Circuit Court of Grenada County, Mississippi. Said court upheld the Full Commission's decision. Mr. James now appeals the earlier judgments.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this workers compensation claim, the Full Commission and Circuit Court erred in affirming the decision of the Administrative Judge. The Administrative Judge ruled that Mr. James' claim was time barred without accurately accessing the facts pertaining to his injury. While Mr. James sustained an injury in 1994, he received treatment for the injuries incurred at that time. As time progressed however, Mr. James' injuries were exacerbated by his work conditions. While the injury sustained in 1994 exposed Mr. James' health condition, it was not until 2004 that his injuries advanced to a debilitating and occupationally disabling state causing Mr. James to undergo surgery and eliminating his ability to continue working. Nevertheless, Mr. James worked under doctor supervision ten years and it is only plausible that the injuries he sustained to his hip were exacerbated by his continuing hard work and service to Bowater Newsprint. It's unconscionable to allow an employer to capitalize off the efforts of injured employees and fail to acknowledge their role in the progression of a health condition when there is no other legal remedy available besides a workers compensation award.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

In matters of statutory interpretation, the Appellate Court applies a de novo standard of review, *Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher*, 926 So. 2d 890, 893 (Miss. 2006). In addition to being a matter of statutory interpretation, the proper standard of review for an appeal following a motion to dismiss is de novo, *Wildmon v. City of Booneville*, 2007 WL 2839530 (Miss. App., 2007). This Court is addressing a question of law and not a question of fact.

Applicable Law

The issue on appeal is whether or not it is inhumane for an employer to acknowledge that an employee suffered an injury on the job, know that the employee in question was seeking medical treatment, and wait for the two year statute to run while reaping the benefits of the employee's continued hard work and service. While Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-35(1) bars any claim when no application for benefits has been filed within two years after the date of injury if no compensation has been paid other than medical or burial expenses, language in court decisions suggest that assessing the date of injury is a material fact that should be allowed to be developed, therefore the Administrative Judge's decision to dismiss the claim failed to accurately access Mr. James' date of injury. This failure not only unfairly bars Mr. James' claim, but it failed to allow him to incur any legal remedy for injuries he sustained throughout his course of employment with Bowater Newsprint.

Mr. James' injury was not latent under the standards established by *Quaker Oats Co. v.*Miller, 370 So.2d 823, 827 (Miss 1979); however, his injury degenerated over the duration of his

employment and did not manifest as a debilitating occupational injury until January 2004 when he underwent surgery and could no longer perform his occupational duties. According to the language in the Moon decision, the correct assessment of the time of injury is at the point that the claimant knew that he had sustained a disabling injury. *J.H. Moon & Sons, Inc. v. Johnson*, 753 So.2d 445, 446 (Miss. 1999). Under this analysis, this point was not reached until Mr. James underwent surgery in January of 2004, and Mr. James filed his Petition to Controvert on June 7, 2005, which was well within the two year statute of limitations outlined in Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-35(1).

The Mississippi Supreme Court held in Moon that punishing an employee economically for an ever-worsening physical condition that is progressive in nature would be inappropriate. Id. at 449. In addition the court also reiterated that doubtful cases should be solved in favor of compensation, in order to fulfill the purpose of the statute. Id. at 447. Here like the Claimant in Moon, Mr. James' injuries arose from one specific incident that occurred several years prior to the filling of a Petition to Controvert, however, Mr. James sustained no other injuries from 1994 until 2004 so it is reasonable to assess the injury as gradual. Similar to the Claimant in the Moon case, Mr. James condition was progressive in nature and he did not suffer a disabling condition until he was no longer able to work, which was in 2004. According to the language in Moon, the injury is not complete until the Claimant is found to be disabled or suffering from a permanent injury. While, Mr. James was aware of a specific incident his injury did not inhibit his ability to work, or result in a permanent injury until 2004. Holding otherwise would allow employers to benefit financially from the injured laborer's injury and avoid compensation by waiting until the statute has run. This would be contrary to the purpose of the statute and eliminate any legal recourse that workers can initiate against their employers.

Similar to the outcome in Moon, the Mississippi Supreme Court held in the Dial case that a Claimant's occupational disability does not fully manifest itself until the Claimant can no longer perform his or her occupational duties. Bolivar County Gravel Co. v. Dial, 634 So. 2d 99, 104 (Miss. 1994). According to this standard, the proper assessment of the date of disabling injury should be found to be at the time that Mr. James could no longer work. The relevant date of injury would commence on January 15, 2004. In support of this argument the Mississippi Supreme Court also held in Jenkins v. Ogletree Farm Supply, 291 So. 2d 560, 562 (Miss. 1974), that when a disability is gradual and the result of cumulative exposure rather from a single event the claim is not time barred. Essentially, Mr. James' circumstances are identical to those made in Moon and Jenkins. Like those Claimants, Mr. James' injuries did not manifest itself into a disabling condition until several years after the initial injury. Evidence suggests that Mr. James' medical condition deteriorated throughout the course of his employment.

Mr. James' injuries manifested into a disability that prevented further employment. This fact alone distinguishes his claim from others that were barred by the statute of limitations.

Unlike the claimant in Cooper, Mr. James' suffers from a permanent disability. Cooper only suffered from a severe allergic reaction and it is arguable that she could still obtain employment away from the chemicals in question. Cooper v. MS Dept. of Rehabilitation Services et. al., 937 So.2d 51-53 (Miss. App. 2006) This is not the case for Mr. James. His injury now completely impairs his ability to perform several tasks which are essential to the enjoyment of everyday life, such as walking, lifting, driving, climbing, loading, and unloading materials.

In the alternative, Mr. James' claim should correlate with the last injurious exposure rule. In Singer Co. v. Smith, 362 So. 2d 590, 593 (Miss. 1987), the Court stated: "the last injurious exposure rule as set forth by Larson, Workmen's Compensation Law 95 (1978) is:

When a disability develops gradually, or when it comes as the result of a succession of accidents, the insurance carrier covering the risk at the time of the most recent injury or exposure is usually liable for the entire compensation."

Here, in the event that Mr. James' injury is determined to be time-barred, the facts suggest that he should still be able to raise a claim alleging that January 15, 2004 was the date that he sustained his last injury or aggravation, thus allowing his claim to be heard on its merits.

In addition to the two previous arguments, barring Mr. James' claim would be a clear violation of public policy which in essence would find that the employee has a duty to pay for injuries sustained throughout the course of employment. Under this analysis, the employee would be punished for following the procedures outlined in the workers compensation process. Here, Mr. James made Bowater Newsprint aware of the injury he sustained in 1994. He continued to work under the restrictions allocated by his physicians until his condition degenerated and resulted in an occupational disability. At this point, he filed a claim. Before January 15, 2004 Mr. James did not have a disabling injury. Affirming, the previous decisions of the Full Commission and Grenada County Circuit Court would reward employers by allowing them to work an employee under restrictions until they are disabled and then escape liability by asserting the statute of limitations. How unjust would that be?

<u>CONCLUSION</u>

In the claim at bar, Mr. James' occupational disability was not acknowledged or recognized until January 15, 2004. Shortly after the recognition of his occupational disability, Mr. James filed a Petition to Controvert for the disabling injury he sustained. While Mr. James injury was not latent, it was progressive in nature, which means that the statute would not begin until he suffered an occupational disability from a compensable injury. Therefore, Mr. James' claim is not time barred, and he deserves the facts surrounding his claim to be heard and evaluated. As such, Mr. James respectfully requests this honorable Court to reverse and remand the present case to the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission for the evaluation of the facts discussed herein, and a full hearing on the merits.

Respectfully submitted,

SAMUEL JAMES, APPELLANT

RY

Carlos E. Moore MSB

Attorney for Appellant

OF COUNSEL:

MOORE LAW OFFICE, PLLC. 1155 Martin Luther King, Jr. Blvd. P.O. Box 1402 Grenada, MS 38902-1402 662-227-9940