IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2007-WC-00817-COA

SAMUEL JAMES

APPELLANT

VS.

BOWATER NEWSPRINT

AND

TRAVELERS INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEES

On appeal from the Circuit Court of Grenada County, Mississippi

REPLY BRIEF OF APPELLEES

FRANKLIN WILLIAMS, MB# THE WILLIAMS FIRM, PC 1002 Van Buren Avenue Oxford, MS 38655 662-236-4477

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED BY APPELLEES

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2007-WC-00817-COA

SAMUEL JAMES

APPELLANT

VS.

BOWATER NEWSPRINT

AND

TRAVELERS INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The appellant, a worker's compensation claimant, did not file a petition to controvert until ten years after he claimed a work injury occurred. He admits this was not a latent injury, but argues the two-year statute of limitations did not expire because he continued to work and the underlying disease from which he suffered worsened. The undisputed facts are that claimant repeatedly alleged a specific 1994 incident, that the claim was denied by the employer/carrier, that he received no compensation benefits, that he was diagnosed with and treated for a chronic condition, and was repeatedly told the disease would worsen and ultimately require surgery. There is no exception to the limitations period. The Administrative Judge and the Full Commission found that the claim was filed untimely and the Circuit Court agreed. Under any interpretation of the facts and law, this claim is time-barred.

ARGUMENT

I. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Claimant asserts that an incident which happened on August 24, 1994, caused the subject work injury. Over the ensuing decade, claimant pointed to that incident as the event which he claims initiated his physical problems. During his years of treatment, he was repeatedly told that he had avascular necrosis, a progressive bone condition affecting his hips (hereinafter AVN). He was told it would worsen to the point he would need surgery. There has never been any dispute over those determinative facts.¹ RE, Deposition of Claimant, p. 24-26.

The year after the 1994 incident, Claimant had hip pain and sought treatment with Dr. Kevin Whalley. After diagnostic studies, Dr. Whalley told claimant that he had the degenerative bone condition AVN affecting both hips RE, p.27, 30 Exhibit B, Whalley records.

In June, 1996, an MRI and x-ray confirmed AVN of both femoral heads, more severe on the left. Claimant then saw Dr. Thomas Windham, a neurologist, who ruled out lumbar issues as a cause, affirmed the presence of AVN, and referred Claimant to Dr. Wayne Lamar, an orthopedist. (RE, pp 29-31)

Dr. Lamar's medical notes of March 27, 1998, state that "the main pain was in the left hip. The patient states that this started at the time of his fall." RE, p 32. On March 30, 1998, Dr. Lamar discussed the diagnosis and treatment of avascular necrosis with Claimant and placed him on continuing light duty work. At a visit on April 29, 1998, the doctor stated that Claimant "indicates he injured this when he slipped on some oil on his job."

Dr. Lamar advised Claimant that because of the avascular necrosis, a hip replacement was

¹There is nothing in the record to show that the employer/carrier accepted the claim or paid medical benefits.

likely. The doctor stated in his notes that it was Claimant's "opinion that he injured his hips or aggravated his condition when he fell." *Id.*

In a letter dated May 5, 1998, Dr. Lamar wrote the following:

I have seen Samuel D. James, employee, who tells me he injured his hips while on his job working for Newsprint South in 1995. He states he slipped in some oil and injured his lower back at that time and complained of pain in his left hip. . . . it is his opinion that he injured his hips or aggravated his condition when he fell. . . . The patient stated he had not had any pain in his hips prior to the fall.

RE. 34

A request for medical treatment was finally made to the carrier in 1999, five years after the work incident and over three years from the date of diagnosis. The employer/carrier investigated, obtained a recorded statement from the claimant, and thereafter filed a Notice of Controversion denying compensability. The claim was rejected as being untimely and unrelated to work. Still, claimant did nothing for another six years, until a Petition to Controvert was filed on June 8, 2005.

III STATEMENT OF THE LAW

As the Court is aware, the standard of review on an appeal of a Full Commission ruling is limited to whether the order was supported by substantial evidence, arbitrary or capricious, beyond the power of the lower authority to make, or violated some statutory or constitutional right. UCCR 5.03, citations omitted.

Pursuant to MCA § 71-3-35(1) a claim "shall be barred" if no application for benefits is

filed within two years after the date of injury if no compensation has been paid other than medical or burial expenses. The statute of limitations begins to run "from the date of the injury."

A. The Statute Runs From Time Injury is Apparent as Recently Confirmed in Parchman

The rule reiterated by this Court and the Supreme Court is that while the two-year statute of limitations begins to run from the date of injury and not necessarily the accident, that date is determined by when a compensable injury becomes apparent. Here, Claimant knew years before 2005 that he had and would continue to have a disability that, in his mind at least, was related to a work incident. Yet he says the limitations period should not run until he had surgery.

Claimant's argument is the same one made and rejected by this Court in *Parchman v*.

Amwood Products, Inc., 2007 WL 239509, Miss.App. Jan 30, 2007 (NO. 2006-WC-00075-COA), rehearing denied Nov 06, 2007 (citation pending). In that case, the claimant sustained a burn injury in March 2000, which, surprisingly, became progressively worse. When the condition finally resulted in the loss of his job, Parchman filed a petition in July 2003.

Parchman argued the statute did not begin to run until he became aware that the injury was disabling, which he claimed was when it interfered with his wage-earning ability. This is what Claimant argues here. This Court disagreed with Parchman's theory, stating: "Although Parchman couches his argument in different terms, this point of error is simply an argument that Parchman's injury was a latent injury."

Parchman did not request that his medical bills be paid under worker's compensation, and neither did Claimant until at least 1999. This Court found that the statute began to run against Parchman at the latest, on the date that he initially sought compensable medical treatment. Both the administrative judge and the commission held that the statute started on the date of the accident, which was also the date of injury. Parchman, like James, was aware that benefits were

available but made no effort to obtain them until he filed his petition.

This Court explained that under Sec. 71-3-35, the statute runs from the date of the injury, citing to a prior holding that "[i]t is clear that this two year statute runs from the time of injury and applies in instances where there has been no payment of disability income benefits."

Jordan v. Pace Head Start, 52 So.2d 28, 30 (Miss.Ct.App.2002). The Court found that the "injury" occurred, and the statute began to run, when Parchman received the burn, resulting in medical care. Therefore the limitations period expired in March 2002. WL 239509, pp. 3-4

James, like Parchman, received no benefits of any kind within the two year period following his injury. Accordingly, the statute bars the petition to controvert.

Where an injury is progressive, "the time period for filing a claim does not begin to run until the claimant, judged by the standard of a reasonable person, recognizes the nature, seriousness, and probable compensable character of his injury." *Quaker Oats Co.*, 370 So.2d 1363, at 1366. Unlike Parchman, James was well aware from the beginning of the nature and future course of his condition. He was on continuing limited duty and he knew the AV would get worse, to the point he would require surgery.

It is clear that James' injury began on the day of the accident, when he received medical treatment. But even if we are forgiving and seek to extend the beginning date to some other time during the ten years, it still is barred. Again and again James was told what he had and what would happen, and yet he did nothing. Under the most generous of interpretations, the statute has expired.

B. The Claimant Had Medical Confirmation of a Compensable Injury Years Before Filing
While of course not authority for the Court, the Commission's discussion in a strikingly

similar case, Haley v. Jeffcoat Fence Co., Inc., MWCC No. 01-03683-H-5463-A (MWCC 2004), is interesting for how it applied the prevailing law and distinguishes cases relied on by Claimant:

"Mr. Haley argues that he should be allowed two years from October 30, 2000, which he claims is the first day he lost time from work as a result of his prior injury. Certainly, there are cases where the moment a person becomes disabled from work may mark the point of discovery that a compensable injury has been sustained, and hence, the point of beginning for the two year statute of limitations. Both Quaker Oats and Bolivar County Gravel Co. v. Dial, 634 So.2d 99 (Miss. 1994) are examples. But this is not the case presently, and neither of these precedents stand for the proposition that the two year statute of limitations does not begin to run until the claimant first becomes disabled from work. The key is determining 'the date of the injury' because this is when §§ 71-3-35 says that the two year period commences. In any given claim, this may be the date the claimant has to quit work altogether, or the date the claimant obtains 'medical confirmation of compensable injury,' as in Georgia Pacific Corp. v. Taplin, 586 So.2d 823, 827 (Miss. 1991), or the date of the accident itself, depending on whether the injury is latent or progressive. See also Jordan v. Pace Head Start, 852 So.2d 28 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002); Speed Mechanical, Inc. v. Taylor, 317 So.2d 317 (Miss. 1977). In the present case, Haley's injury was neither latent nor unknown. Instead, he knew immediately that he hurt his left arm and shoulder on either October 9, 10 or 11, 2000."

This reasoning is applicable here. The injury was neither latent nor unknown. The evidence is

conclusive that claimant knew the medical proof showed the disease would worsen.²

In that regard, it is noteworthy that claimant admits that the "injury was not latent. . . ." Appellant's Brief, p. 6. He acknowledges that the only recognized exception to the statute of limitations is not applicable. Claimant discussed the nature of his disease repeatedly with his doctors. He received extensive treatment over a 12-year period. He was assigned light duty work and told he would need surgery. The carrier even denied the injury through a formal filing, but still he did nothing to preserve his claim

C. A Continuing or Worsening Injury Does Not Extend the Statute of Limitations.

Claimant argues that the statute did not run because his employment continued to exacerbate his condition. There is no support for this contention, particularly when Claimant knew of a specific incident, claimed an injury and received medial care and advice. As pointed out in *Parchman*, *Id.*, it is simply an end-run for a latent injury argument. Nowhere in his brief does Claimant even attempt to assert any proof in support of this position.

Futhermore, the cases he cites are not on point. The statute of limitations question was not even on appeal in *Jenkins v. Ogletree Farm Supply, 291 So. 2d 560, 562 (Miss. 1974)*. The facts in *Bolivar County Gravel Co. v. Dial, 634 So.2d 99 (Miss. 1994)* are so different as to only emphasize the untimeliness of this claim. The *Dial* claimant, suffering from lung disease, was simply unaware of the compensable nature of his injury until he was forced to leave work. There was also an issue arising from the difficulty of finding a date on which the injury occurred. Here,

²James' assertion that he "... was not aware of the origin of his injury..." and that "He was not informed of the severity or progression of his medical condition until surgery was ordered and later conducted in January 2004" is not only wrong, but misrepresents the facts.

Claimant has always said and testified that his injury started in 1994, and he has always known AV was disabling to some degree.

The medical facts are also significantly different. The *Dial* claimant had widely-spaced incidents were he would become briefly sick but then fully recover, and his physician testified that claimant would be "... as good after he had recovered... as ... before." Then he had a specific injurious incident from which he did not return. *Id*, 103, 104.

Here, James' physicians made it clear that AVN is a progressive disease which would require surgery. There was no period of recovery and re-injury. Unlike *Dial*, Claimant was always aware of both the severity and compensable nature of his condition. James never thought his treatment had ended or the disease cured at any time up to the point of a new injury, as did the *Dial* claimant.

On the other hand, a case that is on point is *Benoist Elevator Co., Inc. v. Mitchell, 485 So.2d 1068 (Miss. 1986)*. Claimant suffered an injury in 1959, continued to have pain over the years when he worked, and finally sought help again in 1975. The Court dismissed the claim as untimely because claimant "knew his hand had been injured since 1959 and he had suffered with pain and stiffness throughout the years." *Id., 485 So.2d at 1069*. The fact the injury worsened did not extend the statute of limitations.

The test is awareness, both of the nature of the injury and its cause. Neither issue can be disputed here. There was an incident, a diagnosis of avascular necrosis, medical attention, even a denial of compensability. That the condition progressed in the intervening years, as he knew it would, does not extend the statute of limitations to some uncertain point in the future. Allowing a claimant to avoid the limitations period on grounds his condition worsened would eviscerate

the meaning and purpose of the law. Untold scenarios can be imagined whereby a claim would never reach a limitations point because there would be continuos allegation of aggravation. That is not the law.

CONCLUSION

This claim is absolutely barred by the two-year statute of limitations, MCA § 71-3-35(1). Claimant told his physicians that his hip pain began on August 24, 1994, after a work accident. He was diagnosed with a congenital condition, and repeatedly told the disease would require future medical care. In 1999, he finally reported a claim to the carrier, who denied it in part because the statue of limitations had run. Still, claimant failed to act for another six years.

Claimant's occupational disability did not begin in 2005. According to him, there was a definite and certain time of injury. Claimant has known the nature, seriousness, and probable compensable character of his injury or disease for over ten years. To find a claim such as this timely is to render the statute of limitations meaningless. The whole purpose of a limitations period is to have a date certain by which claimants must assert their rights. The unfortunate fact is that Claimant allowed the statutory period to expire without taking necessary action, and the rulings of the Full Commission and Circuit Court should be affirmed.